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I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Ramiro Cortes asks this Court to accept review 

of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review 

designated in Part II of this petition. 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals issued an unpublished decision in 

this matter on April 15, 2024. Mr. Cortes moved for 

reconsideration. On June 17, the Court of Appeals denied the 

motion for reconsideration, but withdrew its prior decision and 

issued a new unpublished decision. Mr. Cortes moved for 

reconsideration of the substituted decision, and on September 

16, the Court denied the motion for reconsideration. A copy of 

the June 1 7, 2024, opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 

through A- 15. A copy of the order denying the Petitioner's 

motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at pages A-16. A 

copy of the April 15, 2024, decision is at pages A-17 through 

A-31. 
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III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. The Court of Appeals' ecision that Mr. Cortes 
cannot show the existence of an oral contract 
without alleging the essential elements of a real 
estate contract is in conflict with Supreme 
Court decisions and published Court of Appeals 
decisions 

B. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with 
Supreme Court decisions and published Court 
of Appeals decisions holding that the 
determination and interpretation of an oral 
contract is not appropriate for summary 
judgment 

C. There is substantial public interest in this Court 
ensuring that courts are not used to further 
perpetuate fraud nor create additional barriers 
to low-income, LEP litigants 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Factual History 

Ramiro Cortes was a long-time employee of Marijke 

Deutscher, working for her since approximately 2002. Mrs. 

Deutscher owns numerous businesses, holding companies, and 

real estate properties. CP 66-67. Mr. Cortes provided 

maintenance and landscaping on her various properties. CP 2, 

152. Mr. Cortes is a native Spanish speaker, with limited 
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English proficiency (LEP), and less than a high school 

education. CP 12. 

In 2008, Mr. Cortes told Mrs. Deutscher he wanted to 

buy a home for himself and his family (his two minor children, 

his disabled brother, �nd his elderly mother), and he asked her 

for help. Mrs. Deutscher steered Mr. Cortes towards 9234 

Mountain View Road SE, Yelm, WA 98597 (the "Property"). 

The Property consists of two homes, the larger home that Mr. 

Cortes and his family reside in, and a smaller home addressed 

9040 Mountain View Road ("9040"). CP 139, 151-152. 

Mr. Cortes and Mrs. Deutscher orally agreed he would 

buy the Property from her for $270,000, with Mr. Cortes 

making monthly payments of $2250 until the entire purchase 

price was paid. 1 Under the agreement, Mr. Cortes was 

responsible for paying $ 1250 each month, and he could have 

1 In 201 1, they agreed to lower the total monthly amount to 
$ 1800. CP 95-96, 153. 
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people live in the 9040 home to assist in making monthly 

payments of$1000. CP 95-97, 120-121, 147-148, 152-153. 

While the agreement was not in writing, Mrs. Deutscher 

made it known Mr. Cortes was buying the home. She told Iliana 

Garcia (her employee, Mr. Cortes's niece, and a 9040 resident), 

"eventually the Property would be Ramiro's," and he "isn't 

getting the house for willy-nilly, but that he is working for it." 

CP 131. Mrs. Deutscher told Chris Garcia (her employee and a 

9040 resident), all payments for the Property were to 

compensate her for the purchase, and the Property would 

formally be Mr. Cortes's after he reimbursed her. CP 120. 

Others either heard discussion of the agreement, see CP 127 ("I 

recall a conversation between Ramiro and Marijke about 

purchasing the Property.") or brought up the agreement to Mrs. 

Deutscher and she did not deny its existence, see CP 117 ("I 

commented on the property Romero was renting to own and 

how I was excited for him. She said something along the line of 
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that she was happy with Romero's improvements to it and that 

he was a good person."). 

The contract was oral, primarily at the insistence of Mrs. 

Deutscher. She testified the agreement for Mr. Cortes to move 

into the Property was "[m]ainly oral, because Ramiro did not 

understand contracts much or, you know, even if I explained 

things to him, I sometimes had to do it two or three times 

before he really got it." CP 148. Mr. Cortes accepted the 

agreement being oral because he "totally trusted her word." CP 

139, 153. Chris Garcia testified that throughout his relationship 

with Mrs. Deutscher, all agreements, both for housing and 

employment, were done orally and Mrs. Deutscher's stated 

position was "written agreements were wholly unnecessary." 

CP 121 . Chris Garcia further testified: 

Myself, my Wife, Ramiro's Sister & Brother-in­
law ( who also resided on the property for a time,) 
often adamantly communicated concern that 
Ramiro desperately needed something in writing 
from Mrs. Deutscher. Ramiro was never 
susceptible to his family's pleas for him to request 
a contract, as he remained adamant that Marijke 
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would never go back on her word, and he couldn't 
make such a request of her. Ramiro is the type of 
individual that avoids any type of conflict and his 
soft-spoken and trusting nature made him agree 
with Mrs. Deutscher's statements that written 
agreements were unnecessary. He believed 
requesting a contract would be rude given his long­
time relationship with Marijke. 

CP 121. 

While Mr. Cortes initially made his monthly payments of 

$ 1250 in cash, eventually, Mrs. Deutscher began withholding 

wages and told him she would apply them directly to the 

purchase. CP 96, 152. Despite his paycheck only reflecting 40 

hours of work, Mr. Cortes often worked 50-60 hours a week. 

CP 1 18, 12 1-122, 124-125, 127, 13 1, 152-153, 156-185. 

Numerous people testified about Mr. Cortes' s long hours and 

commitment to Mrs. Deutscher and honoring the contract: 

- Garijo Wynn testified: "For 8 years, while I am out on 

my route, I have often seen Romero returning from work 

at all hours of the evening. I also work on Saturdays and I 

- 6 -



have often seen Romero working Saturdays as well." CP 

118· ' 

- Chris Garcia testified as to Mrs. Deutscher' s suspect 

employment practices and referred to Mr. Cortes as a 

"workaholic to a fault" and that it is "a significant 

weakness of his to his friends and family as he is 

constantly consumed by his employment and loyalty to 

his employer." CP 122; 

- Isabel Cortes testified: "Ramiro worked very late hours, 

not getting home until dark in the summer. He would 

work nearly every Saturday ... Ramiro would work 

blindly for her, any time. He would work holidays. She 

would call him and he would go work/fix things for her 

when they broke. He was incredibly dedicated and loyal 

to her." CP 124-125; 

- Jacqueline Herrera-Blanco testified: "He worked early 

mornings, days, nights, weekends, and even on his days 

off." CP 127; 
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- Iliana Garcia testified: "In the summer, they would work 

from sunup to sundown, typically 6 days a week, and 

sometimes 7. There were 12-hour workdays . .. " CP 13 1. 

Beyond the long hours worked by Mr. Cortes, Mrs. Deutscher 

had a practice of never paying her employees overtime no 

matter how many hours they worked. CP 149. Mr. Cortes never 

raised concerns because he always trusted his unpaid wages 

were going toward the purchase of the home. CP 122-123, 125, 

152-153. 

Throughout the years, Mr. Cortes made substantial 

improvements to the Property. He did interior work, had the 

driveway redone, and did extensive landscaping, planting 

numerous trees and other plants, and installed rocks and 

boulders throughout the Property. CP 153-154, 187-203. In 

January 2021, he paid $1600 to repair the communal well. CP 

154, 205. In November 2020, he paid $4400 to install insulation 

and a vapor barrier at the 9040 home. CP 154, 207. He was 

responsible for all maintenance and repairs for both his home 
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and the 9040 home. CP 120, 125, 131, 153-154. He made these 

improvements because he believed he was buying the Property. 

Otherwise, he would not have spent his very limited income on 

these costly improvements. CP 154. 

In May 2021, Mrs. Deutscher fired Mr. Cortes and told 

him she wanted to sell the Property. As of May 2021, based on 

his years of payments made through cash, labor, and withheld 

wages, Mr. Cortes has paid over $280,000 on the contract. 

Procedural History 

The Deutschers filed an ejectment action against Mr. 

Cortes on November 16, 2021. Mr. Cortes filed counterclaims 

for breach of contract, and in the alternative, claims for fraud, 

unjust enrichment, and wage claims. CP 1-4, 20-30. 

On June 3, 2022, the court heard the Deutschers' motion 

for partial summary judgment where they sought an ejectment 

order and dismissal of Mr. Cortes's counterclaims. Mr. Cortes 

opposed the motion with the support of seven declarations: his 

own, those of former employees of Mrs. Deutscher, former 
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residents of 9040, and friends and family who were familiar 

with his situation. CP 1 16-207. Mr. Cortes also produced over a 

year's worth of timecards evidencing he worked over 50 hours 

a week ( despite only being paid for 40 hours), and 

documentation and photographs evidencing thousands of 

dollars he spent improving the Property. CP 156-203. In reply, 

the Deutschers simply asserted Mr. Cortes' s claims were 

unbelievable. CP 224-250. 

After hearing argument, the court granted the 

Deutschers' motion, dismissed Mr. Cortes's counterclaims and 

granted the writ of ejectment. CP 251-253. The court 

incorrectly noted there was no documentation he worked 

overtime or made any payments on the contract. RP 22. The 

court inferred from the fact he never reported any of the 

claimed unpaid income on his taxes as proof he did not work 

overtime or make any payments toward the purchase of the 

Property. RP 22, 24. Acknowledging it was undisputed he made 

payments of $ 1250 for at least a year, the court still questioned 
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whether that rose "to the level of a material fact when we look 

at the value of the home that he was residing in, as those 

amounts appear to be less than what would be rent?" RP 22-23. 

The court characterized Mr. Cortes' s statements as self­

serving, and implied the declarations he provided were not 

credible because they were from his family and friends. RP 23. 

The court further implied it was unbelievable his 

payments/services could be seen as purchase payments. RP 23. 

The court stated Mr. Cortes's improvements to the 

Property were insufficient to constitute partial performance, 

comparing them to Granquist v. McKean, 29 Wn.2d 440, 444, 

187 P.2d 623 ( 1947), where tenant improvements of "a few 

fruit trees" were not enough to remove an oral contract from the 

statute of frauds. RP 23. This was even though Mr. Cortes 

provided evidence of thousands of dollars of improvements to 

the Property. CP 153-154, 187-207. The court found no genuine 

issue of material fact existed and dismissed Mr. Cortes's breach 

of contract claim. RP 23. 
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As to the fraud claim, the court dismissed it because he 

"resided in [the] home for thirteen years, either for free or at a 

low cost in return for his services." RP 23-24. The court 

acknowledged there was "some evidence" from both Mr. Cortes 

and other individuals, but found it was not enough to meet the 

clear, cogent, and convincing standard. RP 24. 

With respect to Mr. Cortes' s unjust enrichment claim, the 

court stated if his unpaid hours went for payments on the 

Property, then he should have included them in his taxes. RP 

24. The court stated there was no evidence the Deutschers 

received a benefit at Mr. Cortes' s expense and dismissed the 

unjust enrichment claim. RP 24-25. The court dismissed Mr. 

Cortes' s claims and granted the Deutschers' motion for 

ejectment. RP 25; CP 251-253. 

Mr. Cortes sought discretionary review, which was 

accepted by the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals issued 

an unpublished decision upholding the dismissal of Mr. 

Cortes' s claims for breach of contract and fraud based on 
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reasons that were not briefed nor argued by _either party. Mr. 

Cortes moved for reconsideration and the Court denied the 

motion, but nonetheless withdrew its prior decision and issued a 

new unpublished decision. On July 5, Mr. Cortes moved for 

reconsideration of the substituted decision, which on September 

16, 2024, the Court denied the motion. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. The Court of Appeals' decision that Mr. Cortes 
cannot show the existence of an oral contract 
without alleging the essential elements of a real 
estate contract is in conflict with Supreme 
Court decisions and published Court of Appeals 
decisions 

1. The essential terms of a real estate 
contract only apply to future contracts, 
not contracts entered 16 years ago, and 
there is no requirement that contracts 
contain terms regarding taxes or interest 

Cortes could not prove the existence of an oral contract because 

he failed to provide terms of the "13 material terms of a real 

estate contract" as set forth in Hubbell v. Ward, 40 Wn.2d 779, 

246 P.2d 468 ( 1952) and subsequently Kruse v. Hemp, 121 
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Wn.2d 715, 853 P.2d 1373 (1993) (hereinafter "Hubbell 

factors"). A-23 -A-24. After Mr. Cortes moved for 

reconsideration challenging this reasoning, the Court denied the 

motion but modified the opinion to remove all citations to 

Kruse. However, the Decision retained its reasoning and still 

references how Mr. Cortes cannot prove the essential terms of a 

contract without satisfying factors, "such as timing of the 

payments, payment of taxes, or even interest" and how "even 

viewing [Mr. Cortes' s evidence] in the light most favorable to 

Cortes . . .. none of these statements introduce any evidence as to 

the essential terms of a real estate contract." A-7 -A-8. 

The Decision is in conflict with Supreme Court holdings 

in both Hubbell and Kruse, which held the "material and 

essential terms" apply to only future contracts (i.e., an option 

contract). See Kruse, 121 Wn.2d at 722; Hubbell, 40 Wn.2d at 

785. The Decision is also in direct conflict with a published 

Court of Appeals decision, Dankievitch v. Lawrence, 22 Wn. 

App. 2d 749, 513 P.3d 804 (2022), review denied, 520 P.3d 965 
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(2022). The Dankievitch court came to the opposite conclusion 

when presented with nearly an identical argument. Dankievitch 

held Hubbell 's material terms only apply to future real estate 

contracts, not contracts already agreed to. Id. at 7 58 

("Dankievitch contends that Hubbell enumerates terms 

necessary to specifically enforce a future real state contract and 

that those terms are not necessary for her and Marti's 

agreement. We agree."). 

The Decision further cited Dankievitch for the 

proposition that "[t]he failure to agree on an interest rate alone 

can preclude specific performance." A-8. However, 

Dankievitch does not support the proposition that interest is an 

essential term of a contract. 

What occurred in Dankievitch was that when referring to 

the terms of the contract, Dankievitch testified that "[n]othing 

was discussed about liability for interest." 22 Wn. App. 2d at 

752. Based on this statement in the record, the Court found it 

was unclear why the parties did not discuss interest: "[t]his may 
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be because the parties believed no interest would accrue, or it 

may be because the parties had not agreed on a rate. If the 

former, specific performance might be appropriate, if the latter, 

it would not." Id. at 76 1. 

The Dankievitch Court, reviewing a summary judgment 

ruling, was not in the position to make factual determinations, 

but in viewing the facts in the light most favorable to 

Dankievitch, stated: "For the purpose of this appeal, we 

construe this uncertainty as meaning that no interest would 

accrue." Id. at 752, fn 3. The Court overturned the dismissal of 

Dankievitch's breach of contract claim and remanded for a fact­

finding hearing. Dankievitch does not stand for the proposition 

that a contract must contain a term regarding interest. The 

Decision provides no other authority that interest is an essential 

term in a contract. The Decision is therefore in conflict with a 

published Court of Appeals decision. 

The Decision is in further conflict with what the 

Washington Supreme Court has held are the essential elements 
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of a contract: "The essential elements of a contract are subject 

matter, parties, promise, terms and conditions, and price or 

consideration." DePhillips v. Zolt Constr. Co., 136 Wn.2d 26, 

3 1, 959 P.2d 11 04 (1998). These five elements are the only 

essential elements necessary terms of a contract, not the terms 

the Decision indicates that Mr. Cortes must meet. 

Mr. Cortes has set forth facts meeting these material 

elements of a contract: (1 ) subject matter-the Property; (2) 

parties-Mr. Cortes and the Deutschers; (3) promise-the 

Deutschers selling the Property to Mr. Cortes; ( 4) terms and 

conditions-monthly payments of $2,250 until the purchase 

price was reached; and (5) price or consideration-$270,000. 

Mr. Cortes alleged sufficient facts supporting the existence of a 

contract. 

This was the contract, and the agreement did not call for 

the entry of an additional contract in the future. This oral 

contract is not a future real estate contract or an option contract 

subject to the Hubbell factors. By finding Mr. Cortes cannot 
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prevail as a matter of law on a breach of contract action because 

he did not allege the Hubbell factors, the Decision is in direct 

conflict with Supreme Court cases and a published decision of 

the Court of Appeals. 

2. The Hubbell factors are only applicable to 
specific performance, not requests for 
damages 

In addition to the Decision wrongly concluding Mr. 

Cortes needed to allege the Hubbell factors in order to obtain 

specific performance, the Decision went further and found Mr. 

Cortes needed to also do so in order to proceed on his claim for 

damages. A-8 -A-9, fn. 9. 

However, the Hubbell factors only apply when a party is 

seeking specific performance because "to decree specific 

performance of a contract, the court must be able to determine 

what must be done to constitute performance." 40 Wn. 2d at 

785. See also Kruse, 121 Wn. 2d at 722-25; Dankievitch, 22 

Wn. App. 2d at 758-760. The rationale for applying the Hubbell 

factors is not applicable when a party seeks damages. To Mr. 
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Cortes's knowledge, no published decision has ever denied 

damages on a breach of an oral contract based on the contract 

not containing the Hubbell factors. See, e.g., Powers v. 

Hastings, 93 Wn.2d 709, 6 12 P.2d 371 ( 1980); Miller v. 

McCamish, 78 Wn.2d 821, 479 P.2d 9 19 ( 1971) (neither case 

addressing Hubbell or analyzing whether the oral agreements 

contained the material terms of a real estate contract). 

The Court erred by refusing to vacate the dismissal of 

Mr. Cortes' s breach of contract claim as it pertained to 

damages. The Decision is thus in conflict with decisions of the 

Supreme Court and published Court of Appeals decisions. 

3. Even if Mr. Cortes was required to plead 
the Hubbell factors, the Decision 
overlooked the rule that a trial court has 
equitable authority to order the sale of 
real p1·operty under an oral agreement 
that lacks otherwise material terms 

Even if lhe Decision is correct that Mr. C01tes was 

required to plead the Hubbell factors on his breach of contract 

claim, the Court overlooked the equitable doctrine that the trial 

court could still award specific performance if the contract can 
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be completed by paying the full balance within a reasonable 

time. In Hubbell, even though it was concluded the parties' 

agreement lacked necessary terms, the Court nevertheless 

provided relief based on its equitable authority if the purchase 

could be completed within a reasonable time. 40 Wn. 2d at 787-

788. This equitable rule has been repeatedly recognized by our 

Courts. See, e.g., Kruse, 12 1 Wn.2d at 722, fn 1; Dankievitch, 

22 Wn. App. 2d at 758-760; Valley Garage, Inc., v. Nyseth, 4 

Wn. App. 3 16, 48 1 P.2d 1 7  ( 1971). 

If Mr. Cortes's evidence is taken as true as is required at 

summary judgment, then Mr. Cortes has in fact completed the 

oral contract and there would be no further amounts to pay. As 

of May 202 1, Mr. Cortes has paid over $280,000 on the 

contract, fulfilling his obligation. There is no reason why the 

trial court could not order specific performance on a contract 

that has been completed. If the trial court were to find any 

amounts remain on the contract, then Mr. Cortes should be 

given a reasonable amount of time to complete the contract. For 
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example, Mr. Cortes has been paying $1500 into the registry 

every month since July 2022 and will continue to do so during 

the pendency of review, providing ample funds to apply to the 

contract. 

If Mr. Cortes prevails at trial, the trial court retains its 

equitable authority to order specific performance on a contract 

if it can be completed within a reasonable time. The Court of 

Appeals denied Mr. Cortes this right, and in doing so, the 

Decision conflicts with Supreme Court decisions and published 

Court of Appeals decisions. 

B. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with 
Supreme Court decisions and published Court 
of Appeals decisions holding that the 
determination and interpretation of an oral 
contract is not appropriate for summary 
judgment 

The Court of Appeals found it was appropriate to dismiss 

Mr. Cortes ' s  daim of breach of an oral contract at summary 

judgment despite published cases indicating this is not 

appropriate. Courts have repeatedly held that determinations 

regarding the existence and interpretation of oral contracts is 
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the role of fact-finder, not the role of the court at summary 

judgment. See, e.g., Donatelli v. D.R. Strong Consulting Eng 'rs, 

Inc., 179 Wn.2d 84, 93, fn. 1, 3 12 P.3d 620, 624 (2013) 

(internal citations omitted) ("The interpretation of an oral 

contract is generally not appropriate for summary judgment 

because the existence of an oral contract and its terms usually 

depends on the credibility of witnesses testifying to specific 

fact-based dealings which, if believed, would establish a 

contract and the contract's terms."); see also, Duckworth v. 

Langland, 95 Wn. App. 1, 7, 988 P.2d 967 ( 1998); Crown 

Plaza Corp. v. Synapse Software Sys., Inc., 87 Wn. App. 495, 

500-01, 962 P.2d 824 ( 1997). 

Mr. Cortes' s case illustrates why such determinations 

must be made at a trial. It is undisputed that Mr. Cortes and 

Mrs. Deutscher entered into an oral agreement related to the 

Property. Mr. Cortes and multiple witness attested Mrs. 

Deutscher stated she agreed to sell Mr. Cortes the Property. 

Mrs. Deutscher disputes this. A fact-finding hearing is needed 
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to decide who is more credible, not a court reviewing affidavits 

at summary judgment. The Court of Appeals erred when it 

upheld the dismissal of Mr. Cortes' s breach of contract claim 

on summary judgment. The Decision is thus in conflict with 

decisions of the Supreme Court and published Court of Appeals 

decisions. 

C. There is substantial public interest in this Court 
ensuring that courts are not used to further 
perpetuate fraud nor create additional barriers 
to low-income, LEP litigants 

From the onset, this case has been about the statute of 

frauds. It was the primary issue before the court at summary 

judgment and the issue primarily briefed by the parties on 

appeal. The Decision ignores the statute of frauds and ins lead 

erects additional barriers for a party seeking to enforce an oral 

contract. The Decision runs contrary to established law as 

discussed above, and further is contrary to the purpose of the 

statute of frauds. 

The "indiscriminate application" of the statute of frauds 

has often furthered the perpetration of fraud. Mobley v. Harkins, 

- 23 -



14  Wn.2d 276, 283, 128 P.2d 289 ( 1942). In response, courts 

"developed the doctrine of equitable estoppel by reason of part 

performance, declaring that certain acts referable to an oral 

agreement would be regarded as taking that agreement out of 

the statute of frauds." Id. The doctrine of part performance 

"guards against the utilization of the statute as a means for 

defrauding innocent parties who have been induced or 

permitted to change their position, in reliance upon oral 

agreements within its operation." Id. at 284. Because "the 

purpose of the statute of frauds is to prevent a fraud, not to 

perpetuate one . . . courts of this state are empowered to 

disregard the statute when necessary to prevent a gross fraud 

from being practiced." Powers v. Hastings, 20 Wn. App. 837, 

842, 582 P.2d 897 (1978) affirmed by Powers, 93 Wn.2d 709. 

What happened in the superior court and the Court of 

Appeals enabled fraud to go unchallenged. The superior court 

discounted Mr. Cortes' s testimony and the unrebutted 

testimony of others as self-serving and not enough because it 
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came from those who knew him and were supportive of his 

position. Mr. Cortes was faulted for not having written proof of 

the agreement, despite the evidence showing it was Mrs. 

Deutscher who insisted on oral contracts. The superior court 

further disregarded evidence of thousands of dollars of 

improvements and years of unpaid labor made by Mr. Cortes, 

instead faulting him for how he did his taxes. 

Mr. Cortes appealed on the issue of whether he satisfied 

the statute_of frauds, the is_sue at s_u_mmary judgment. This was 

the issue argued and briefed by the parties. However, the Court 

of Appeals decided the case on a completely different basis that 

has no support in the law. The Court determined it was 

appropriate to dismiss Mr. Cortes' s claims at summary 

judgment because he did not plead the Hubbell factors; a 

holding in conflict with published decisions as set forth above. 

More troubling, the Court of Appeals created an additional 

requirement that every contract must contain a term discussing 
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interest, even though "interest" is not an essential element of a 

contract. 

Further, the Decision upholds the dismissal of Mr. 

Cortes' s fraud claim based on another untenable determination 

that he was "unable to demonstrate a genuine issue of material 

fact regarding the fourth element of a fraud claim: the speaker's 

knowledge of the falsity of their representation." A-11. As 

acknowledged in the Decision, even the Deutschers did not 

dispute this element had been met by Mr. Cortes. A- 10. This 

holding was in error as the evidence provided by Mr. Cortes as 

well as the inferences taken in the light most favorable to him 

sufficiently showed that Mrs. Deutscher knew the statement she 

made that she was selling him the property was false. 

Stated another way, the Decision found Mr. Cortes 

demonstrated a prima facie case that: ( 1) Mrs. Deutscher 

represented she was selling the Property to Mr. Cortes; (2) this 

representation was material and (3) false; (5) Mrs. Deutscher 

intended Mr. Cortes would act on the representation; ( 6) Mr. 
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Cortes was ignorant of the falsity of the representation; (7) Mr. 

Cortes relied on the truth of the representation; (8) Mr. Cortes 

had a right to rely on the representation; and (9) Mr. Cortes 

suffered damages. Given the Court found Mr. Cortes satisfied 

these eight elements, it is difficult to ascertain the Court's 

reasoning for finding the fourth element was not met. Either she 

intended to sell Mr. Cortes the Property and thus her change of 

position amounted to breach of contract, or she knew from the 

beginning they were not going to sell the Property to Mr. 

Cortes, and thus committed fraud. 

The Court further bases its reasoning on the fact that no 

one has testified "that Marijke acted with knowledge of the 

falsity of her representation." A-1 2. But this ignores the fact 

that the Deutschers are now attempting to eject Mr. Cortes and 

his family from their home and are further disclaiming the 

existence of the agreement. These actions are her acting on the 

falsity of her representation. The Court was required to 

reasonably infer from these facts-as it must under the 
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summary judgment standard-that she knew the representation 

was false and is now trying to avoid the legal implication of 

that statement. The Court's reasoning would essentially mean 

no one could ever prevail on a fraud claim unless they had a 

confession from the perpetrator of the fraud. Apart from such 

situations being extremely rare, this is not the appropriate 

standard for assessing a fraud claim at summary judgment. 

The Decision has left Mr. Cortes without a remedy for 

over thirteen years of harm. The Decision says he cannot 

proceed with a breach of contract claim, either for specific 

performance or for damages because the oral contract entered in 

2008 did not discuss things such as interest and taxes. 

Conversely, the Decision states that even if Mrs. Deutscher 

promised to sell him the Property, Mr. Cortes could not recover 

under a theory of fraud because he cannot prove she intended to 

defraud him, irrespective of her subsequent conduct. Such a 

conclusion leads to absurd results and further insulates those 

who take advantage of low wage workers. 
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VI. CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals' Decision deprives Mr. Cortes of 

his right to have his case heard by a fact-finder. The Decision 

upholds dismissals of his claims on grounds that were not 

argued by the parties and for reasons that have no support in the 

law. The Decision went so far as to say Mr. Cortes cannot 

recover under any contract theory because the contract he 

entered in 2008 did not address interest. Low-wage, LEP 

litigants are already systemically disadvantaged. The Decision 

further perpetuates fraud and leaves Mr. Cortes without any 

available remedy for damages he sustained over the course of 

thirteen years. 

This Court should grant review and 1) reverse the 

superior court's dismissal of Mr. Cortes's claims of breach of 

contract and fraud, 2) find he has plead a prima facie case for 

each of his claims, 3) find that his evidence as produced would 

show partial or complete performance of the contract, thus 

- 29 -



satisfying the statute of frauds, and 4) remand the case for 

further proceedings, including a trial. 
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F I LED 
6/1 7/2024 

Court of Appeals 
D iv ision I 

State of Wash ington 

IN TH E COU RT OF APPEALS OF TH E STATE OF WAS H I N GTON 

MAR IJKE DEUTSCHER and ALLEN 
DEUTSCHER ,  husband and wife ,  and 
the i r  marita l commun ity ,  

Respondents , 

V .  

RAM I RO CORTESt,  a s ing le person ,  
and ALL OTH ER OCCU PANTS OF 
9234 MOU NTAI N VI EW ROAD SE ,  
YELM , WAS H I NGTON ,  

Appel lant ,  

YOU R  LAN DSCAPE COMPANY, LLC , 
a Wash i ngton l im ited l iab i l ity company, 

Th i rd-Party Defendant .  

No.  85898-0- 1 

D IVIS ION ONE  

U N P U BL ISHED O P I N ION 

HAZELRIGG ,  A. C . J .  - Ram i ro Cortes l ived i n  a res idence jo i ntly owned by 

h is longt ime emp loyer Marij ke Deutscher and her husband as the i r  tenant. I n  May 

202 1 , the Deutschers notified Cortes that they i ntended to se l l  the property and , 

when he refused to vacate , b rought an act ion for ejectment. Cortes answered the 

su it and fi led countercla ims aga inst the Deutschers ,  assert ing an equ itable i nterest 

in the property and al leg i ng ,  among other causes of action ,  b reach of an oral  

contract to pu rchase the property , fraud , and unj ust enrichment .  The tria l  cou rt 

t Though the Deutschers set out the i r  former employee's name as " Romero Cortez" i n  
the ir  plead ings ,  he spel led h is  own name " Rami ro Cortes" i n  a l l  o f  h is  p lead ings fi led i n  t he  tria l  
cou rt and on appea l .  We adopt the spel l i ng  used by the appel lant .  

A-00 1 
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g ranted the Deutschers' motion for summary j udgment d ism issal of Cortes' 

countercla ims aga inst them and ordered the writ of ejectment. Because Cortes 

demonstrated a genu ine issue of mater ial fact as to h is countercla im for unj ust 

enrichment ,  the court erred in order ing its d ism issa l .  We reverse and remand on 

the unj ust enrichment cause of action ,  but otherwise affi rm . 

FACTS 

Ram i ro Cortes was a longt ime employee of You r  Landscape Company LLC , 

a bus iness owned by Marij ke Deutscher. 1 On or about October 1 8 , 2008 , Marij ke2 

and her husband , Al len Deutscher, pu rchased the property of 9234 Mounta in  View 

Road SE ,  Yelm ,  Wash ington (the property) for a pu rchase price of $295 , 000 .  The 

property consisted of two res idences : a 2 ,499-square-foot home at 9234 Mounta in  

View Road and a 1 ,  1 76-square-foot home at  9040 Mounta i n  View Road . It was 

insured under a pol icy issued to Al len and Marij ke Deutscher .  Wh i le the parties 

fundamenta l ly d isag ree about the i r  arrangement regard i ng Cortes' access to and 

res idence at the property , they ag ree that Cortes and h is fam i ly moved onto the 

property at some point i n  2008. 3 There was no written lease ag reement between 

1 Although Marij ke d id  not provide specifics as to when Cortes began worki ng for her 
bus iness, there was evidence presented i n  her p lead i ngs and supporti ng documents that she had 
previously stated i n  a text message to Cortes that she was sad h is emp loyment had to end " l i ke 
th is after nearly 20 years . "  Cortes asserts h is  employment with the Deutschers started i n  
approximate ly 2002 . 

2 The compla int  for ejectment and damages was fi led by Marij ke and Al len Deutscher as a 
marital commun ity and references to the l it igat ion are ascribed to "the Deutschers . "  However, i n  
t he  in terest o f  clarity ,  i n  descri ptions of  the  in teract ions between Cortes and Mrs .  Deutscher we wi l l  
use  her fi rst name ,  Marij ke . No d isrespect is i ntended . 

3 Cortes contends that he approached Marij ke aski ng for assistance to buy a home,  he 
moved i nto the property thereafter, and then he and Marij ke entered into an ora l  contract for Cortes 
to buy it from the Deutschers .  I n  h is  answer to the compla int for ejectment, Cortes a l leges that 
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the parties govern ing Cortes' use of the property . 4 At various t imes , Cortes' 

extended fam i ly also l ived on the property in the 9040 res idence and paid rent to 

Marij ke . 5 Desp ite language in the compla int for ejectment where in  the Deutschers 

asserted Cortes "has never paid rent for the [p] remises and never been asked to 

pay rent for the [p] rem ises , "  the parties now ag ree on appeal that, at least for the 

fi rst year of h is tenancy, Cortes was to pay $ 1 ,250 to Marij ke month ly. 6 Cortes 

i n it ia l ly paid Marij ke cash for h is month ly rent. 7 He al leges that Marij ke eventua l ly 

started withhold ing earn ings from h is paycheck i n  order to meet the month ly 

payment ob l igations .  The Deutschers deny that any money was withheld from 

Cortes' checks and aver that ,  i nstead , he s imp ly stopped payi ng rent a ltogether 

when he encountered personal hardsh ips .  

Cortes' emp loyment with You r  Landscape Company was term inated i n  May 

202 1 . Shortly thereafter, the Deutschers decided to se l l  the property and notified 

Cortes that he wou ld need to vacate it .  Cortes refused and , on November 1 5 , the 

Deutschers fi led a compla int for ejectment in Thu rston County Superior Court .  On 

Marij ke " let [h im]  know that she found a potent ia l  home for h im"  after Cortes approached her for 
he lp  but pr ior to the Deutschers purchas ing the property . 

I n  contrast, the Deutschers assert i n  briefi ng that they a l lowed Cortes and h is fam i ly to 
move into the 9234 res idence on the property in order to he lp  h im  and h is  fam i ly .  At the t ime of the 
compla int  for ejectment, Cortes asserted that he ,  h is two ch i l d ren ,  his d isabled brother, and h is  
e lderly mother l ived i n  the 9234 res idence. 

4 Marij ke asserted that the ag reement was "ma in ly ora l ,  because Ram i ro d id not 
u nderstand contracts much or, you know, even if I exp la ined th ings to h im ,  I sometimes had to do 
it two or three t imes before he rea l ly got it . " Cortes' answer to the Deutschers' compla int asserts 
h is  primary language is Span ish and he characterizes h is  Eng l ish- language profic iency as " l im ited . "  

5 Marij ke asserts that he r  realtor, Margo Street, has  commun icated with the 9040 tenants 
th rough her bus iness, Networks Real Estate LLC,  screened some of them ,  and deposited the i r  rent 
checks at Marij ke's d i rection .  

6 Cortes fu rther asserts that another $ 1 , 000 " payment" was cred ited to  h is month ly 
payments by recru it i ng tenants to l ive i n  the 9040 res idence on the property . 

7 Aga in ,  d i rectly contrad icti ng the language i n  the orig ina l  compla int ,  Marij ke admitted i n  
deposit ion testimony that cash rental payments were made for between e igh t  months and one year. 
Cortes does not provide a time frame for his cash payments for rent. 

- 3 -

A-003 



No .  85898-0- 1/4 

December 29 ,  Cortes responded with h is answers , affi rmative defenses , 

countercla ims aga inst the Deutschers ,  and th i rd-party cla ims aga inst You r  

Landscape Company. 8 H is countercla ims included al legat ions that the Deutschers 

violated an oral  contract for Cortes to pu rchase the property , Marij ke comm itted 

fraud , and the Deutschers were unjustly en riched by Cortes' u ncompensated 

improvements to the property . On February 1 8 , 2022 , the Deutschers moved for 

part ia l summary judgment on the ejectment act ion and Cortes' th ree countercla ims 

aga inst them . Cortes fi led a response on May 20 ,  argu ing that there were mater ial 

issues of fact as to h is th ree countercla ims that necessari ly p revented the i r  

d ism issal and  precl uded an order of ejectment. 

On J une 3, the tria l  cou rt conducted a heari ng on the Deutschers' motion . 

After considering the argument and briefs of the parties , i nc lud ing mu lt ip le 

declarations i n  support of each party's posit ion , the court g ranted the Deutschers' 

motion for part ia l summary j udgment d ism iss ing Cortes' countercla ims and 

ordered a writ of ejectment. On J une 8 ,  Cortes fi led a notice for d iscretionary 

review i n  D iv is ion Two of th is cou rt .  A comm iss ioner den ied review and Cortes 

moved to mod ify that ru l i ng . Cortes' mot ion to mod ify the comm iss ioner's ru l i ng  

was g ranted , as was review of  the case , wh ich was subsequently transferred to 

th is d iv is ion .  

8 The cla ims against You r  Landscape Company are not before th is cou rt, a s  they su rvived 
the Deutschers' motion for summary judgment and are proceed ing  to tria l .  

- 4 -

A-004 



No. 85898-0-1/5 

ANALYSIS 

Cortes argues that the summary judgment dismissal of his counterclaims 

was improper because he established that there were genuine issues of material 

fact as to each of his three causes of action and that the court similarly erred as to 

the order for writ of ejectment. 

This court reviews a summary judgment order de nova. Berry v. King 

County, 1 9  Wn. App. 2d 583, 587, 501 P .3d 1 50 (2021 ) .  "A party seeking summary 

judgment bears the initial burden to show the absence of a genuine issue of 

material fact." Hung Dang v. Floyd, Pflueger & Ringer, PS, 24 Wn. App. 2d 1 45, 

1 58,  5 1 8  P.3d 671 (2022), review denied, 200 Wn.2d 1 032 (2023). Summary 

judgment is appropriate "' if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, 

and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no 

genuine issue as to any material fact."' Berry, 1 9  Wn. App. 2d at 587 (quoting CR 

56(c)). All facts and reasonable inferences are viewed in the light most favorable 

to the nonmoving party . Id. "The moving party is held to a strict standard" and any 

doubts regarding the existence of a genuine issue of material fact are resolved 

against the moving party. Atherton Condo. Apt.-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Dirs. v. 

Blume Dev. Co., 1 1 5 Wn.2d 506, 51 6 ,  799 P.2d 250 (1 990). 

If the moving party meets their initial burden, then the burden shifts to the 

non moving party to show the existence of a genuine issue of material fact. Hung 

Dang, 24 Wn. App. 2d at 1 58. The nonmoving party must provide "more than 

conclusory allegations, speculative statements, or argumentative assertions of the 

existence of unresolved factual issues" to survive summary judgment. Walker v. 

- 5 -
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King County Metro, 1 26 Wn. App. 904, 9 12 ,  1 09 P.3d 836 (2005). Absent specific 

circumstances, at the summary judgment stage, the court must only determine 

whether the nonmoving party has met a burden of production, "not whether the 

evidence produced is persuasive ," as that role belongs to the jury. Renz v. 

Spokane Eye Clinic, PS, 1 44 Wn. App. 61 1 ,  623, 60 P.3d 1 06 (2002). Accordingly , 

when ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the "trial court may not weigh the 

evidence, assess credibi l ity, consider the likelihood that the evidence will prove 

true, or otherwise resolve issues of material fact ." Haley v. Amazon.com Servs., 

LLC, 25 Wn. App. 2d 207, 2 17 ,  522 P.3d 80 (2022). Although summary judgment 

exists to avoid pointless trials where no material fact is in dispute, a trial is 

"absolutely necessary where there is a genuine issue as to any material fact ." Id. 

(quoting Ba/ise v. Underwood, 62 Wn.2d 1 95, 1 99,  381 P.2d 966 (1 963)). Finally, 

and separately from the summary judgment framework, we may affirm on any 

basis supported by the record on appeal .  Performance Constr., LLC v. Glenn, 1 95 

Wn. App. 406, 41 5, 380 P.3d 61 8 (201 6) .  

I .  Counterclaim for Breach of Contract 

Cortes alleges that the Deutsche rs breached an oral contract between them 

to purchase the property. To prevail on a breach of contract claim, a plaintiff must 

show that a valid agreement existed between the parties, the agreement was 

breached, and the plaintiff suffered damages. Univ. of Wash. v. Gov't Emp. Ins. 

Co. ,  200 Wn. App. 455, 467, 404 P .3d 559 (201 7). Generally, to survive summary 

judgment, a party must make a prima facie showing of each of these three 

elements. See Boguch v. Landover Corp. , 1 53 Wn. App. 595, 609, 224 P.3d 795 

- 6 -
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(2009) (explaining if plaintiff fails to make prima facie showing on element essential 

to case , summary judgment should be granted). However, because Cortes 

expressly requested specific performance of the alleged contract in his 

counterclaim, he must meet a heightened standard of proof, even at the summary 

judgment stage. 

"[W]here specific performance of the agreement is sought, the contract must 

'be prove[d] by evidence that is clear and unequivocal and which leaves no doubt 

as to the terms, character, and existence of the contract."' Berg v. Ting, 1 25 Wn.2d 

544, 556, 886 P .2d 564 (1 995) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Miller v. 

McCamish, 78 Wn.2d 821 , 829, 479 P.2d 91 9). I n  the context of summary 

judgment, this standard requires us to determine "'whether, viewing the evidence 

in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party , a rational trier of fact could find 

that the non moving party supported [their] claim with clear, cogent, and convincing 

evidence."' In re Est. of Kolesar, 27 Wn. App. 2d 1 66, 1 76, 532 P.3d 1 70 (2023) 

(internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Woody v. Stapp, 1 46 Wn. App. 1 6 , 22, 

1 89 P.3d 807 (2008)). 

Cortes asserts that he had an oral contract with Marijke to purchase the 

property for $270,000 and that he made monthly payments toward the sale 

amount. He alleges that he was to make monthly payments of $2,250 to Marijke, 

which were later lowered to $1 ,800 by agreement, until the purchase price of 

$270,000 was reached. The monthly payment would consist of $1 ,250 in cash 

and a $1 ,000 "credit" for Cortes' assistance in obtaining renters for the 9040 

residence. However, Cortes fa ils to present facts as to the general terms of the 

- 7 -
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a l leged contract ,  such as tim i ng of the payments , payment of taxes , or  even 

i nterest . The fa i l u re to ag ree on an i nterest rate alone can preclude specific 

performance .  Dankievitch v. Lawrence, 22 Wn . App .  2d 749 ,  76 1 , 5 1 3 P . 3d 804 ,  

review denied, 200  Wn .2d 1 0 1 7  (2022) . 

Cortes subm itted declarat ions from severa l witnesses who heard 

statements made by Marij ke affi rm i ng the al leged contract ,  i nc lud ing h is friend , 

s ister, nephew, and two n ieces . These declarat ions i nc lude general  statements 

from each of the witnesses about what they heard concern ing the existence of a 

contract to buy the property , such as Cortes' n iece , who exp la i ned that Marij ke to ld 

her "eventua l ly the property wou ld be Ram i ro's . "  However, even viewing these 

declarations in the l i ght most favorable to Cortes as the nonmoving party at 

summary j udgment ,  none of these statements i ntrod uce any evidence as to the 

essential terms of a real estate contract ,  much less evidence sufficient to satisfy 

the clear, cogent and convi nc ing standard that appl ies i n  the specific procedu ral  

postu re before us .  Therefore , Cortes is unable to meet the heightened burden 

requ i red by h is request for specific performance of the purported oral  contract to 

pu rchase the property . Because he fa i ls to satisfy th is i n it ia l  bu rden ,  we need not 

reach h is rema in ing  arguments on th is issue .  The tria l  cou rt d id not err i n  

d ism iss ing the  countercla im for breach of contract .  9 

9 I n  the a lternative to h is  request for specific performance, Cortes also sought  money 
damages i n  h is  cla im for breach of contract. Wh i le the he ightened evident iary standard for specific 
performance is inapp l icab le to Cortes' request for damages, the outcome here is the same. See 
Powers v. Hastings, 93 Wn.2d 709 ,  7 1 6 ,  6 1 2  P .2d 371  ( 1 980) . To prevai l  on a breach of contract 
c la im for damages, Cortes must sti l l  "p rove that a va l i d  ag reement existed between the parties . "  
Univ. of  Wash , 200 Wn . App .  a t  467 . 

Cortes not on ly  fa i l s  to present facts as to the genera l  terms of the a l leged contract but he 
also fa i ls  to present evidence that shows the existence of any rea l  estate contract between the 
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1 1 .  Writ of Ejectment 

In a re lated ass ignment of error, Cortes also chal lenges the court's order 

for a writ of ejectment. An ejectment is a legal remedy used to evict tenants who 

have not paid rent. Bar K Land Co. v. Webb, 72 Wn . App .  380 , 383 , 864 P .2d 435 

( 1 993) . The enti rety of Cortes' argument on th is issue is premised on h is cla im of 

equ itable tit le based on the al leged oral  contract to pu rchase the property . I n  h is 

countercla ims ,  Cortes expressly sought specific performance of the contract .  Had 

he preva i led at the summary j udgment stage ,  the issuance of the order on the writ 

wou ld have been prematu re .  However, as Cortes' b reach of contract cla im was 

properly d ism issed by the tria l  cou rt ,  it d id not err when it issued the order on writ 

of ejectment. 

I l l .  Countercla im for Fraud 

As an alternative cause of action , Cortes a lso brought a countercla im 

aga inst the Deutschers for fraud , a l leg ing that Marij ke made a mater ial and fa lse 

m isrepresentat ion to h im that he was pu rchas ing the property from her for 

$270 , 000 .  To prove fraud i n  a civi l context , the p la intiff must estab l ish each of the 

fo l lowing elements : 

( 1 )  A representat ion of an exist ing fact , (2) its mater ial ity ,  (3) its 
fa ls ity ,  (4) the speaker's knowledge of its fa ls ity or ignorance of its 
truth , (5) [the i r] i ntent that it shou ld be acted on by the person to 
whom it is made ,  (6) ignorance of its fa ls ity on the part of the person 
to whom it is made ,  (7) the latter's re l iance on the truth of the 
representat ion , (8) [the i r] rig ht to re ly upon it ,  (9) [the i r] consequent 
damage. 

parties. Viewed i n  the l i ght most favorable to  Cortes , the evidence shows no issue of  material fact, 
and thus ,  summary judgment d ism issal was proper. 

- 9 -
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Kirkham v. Smith, 1 06 Wn. App. 1 77,  1 83,  23 P.3d 1 0  (2001 ) .  If Cortes is unable 

to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact on any of the nine factors of fraud, 

dismissal of this claim was proper. The Deutschers specifically challenge 

elements (1 ) ,  (2), and (9), however, we evaluate each element in our de nova 

review of this summary judgment action and conclude that Cortes did not produce 

a prima facie showing of element (4). 

The trial court acknowledged that Cortes had presented evidence in support 

of his fraud cla im,  but dismissed it nonetheless, ruling that 

[t]he nine elements of fraud have not been prove[d] by clear, cogent 
and convincing evidence. There is some evidence-I' l l  acknowledge 
that there are declarations from other individuals, not just Mr. 
Corte[s], but the standard required has not been met. 

(Emphasis added.) In  briefing, the Deutschers also state that Cortes must 

establish the elements of fraud under the same evidentiary standard as they aver 

applied to the breach of contract counterclaim. Both the trial court and the 

Deutschers are mistaken .  The heightened standard applied only to the breach of 

contract claim and only because he expressly sought specific performance of the 

purported contract. See Berg, 1 25 Wn.2d at 556; Kolesar, 27 Wn. App. 2d at 1 76.  

H is prayer for relief specifically l imits that remedy to that one cause of action: 

"Cortes respectfully request[s] the fo llowing relief: . . .  [a]n order requiring specific 

performance of the contract entered into for the sale of the [p]roperty ; . . .  [i]n the 

alternative, an award of damages in [an] amount to be prove[d] at tria l ." (Emphasis 

added .) Cortes did not, and more critica lly could not, seek specific performance in 

either a claim for fraud or unjust enrichment. In  the procedural posture of this case, 

Cortes need only make a prima facie showing that there is a genuine issue of 

- 1 0  -
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material fact for each element of his fraud claim to survive summary judgment. 

Hung Dang, 24 Wn. App. at 1 58. 

For this cause of action ,  Cortes relied on his own declaration, as well as 

those of his friends and fami ly that he offered to support his assertion of the 

existence of an oral contract. Despite the Deutschers' focus in briefing on their 

erroneous argument about the evidentiary standard, the evidence Cortes 

produced was sufficient to raise a genuine issue of material fact as to whether 

Marijke made the requisite representation to h im.  The evidence was also sufficient 

to establish a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the purported 

representation was material ,  as Cortes' witnesses stated that he made 

improvements to the property and that monthly payments were made to Marijke 

toward the purchase of the property based on that representation .  Cortes 

produced an invoice marked "Paid cash ," photographs, and testimony that he 

made uncompensated improvements to the property , which also establish a 

genuine issue of material fact that he incurred damages. Therefore , the only three 

elements of this cause of action that the Deutschers contest have been met for 

purposes of summary judgment. 

Nevertheless, as we engage in de nova review of orders on summary 

judgment, we conclude that Cortes is unable to demonstrate a genuine issue of 

material fact regarding the fourth element of a fraud cla im:  the speaker's 

knowledge of the falsity of their representation. Taking Cortes' evidence and 

associated inferences in the light most favorable to h im,  there is nothing to 

demonstrate that Marijke made a promise to him about the purchase of the 

- 1 1  -
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property that she knew to be false. Although Cortes and his witnesses al l  claim 

awareness of the existence of the agreement, none asserted that Marijke acted 

with knowledge of the fa lsity of her representation. Again ,  we may affirm on any 

basis supported by the record. See Performance Constr. , 1 95 Wn. App. at 415 .  

Because Cortes cannot show a genuine issue of  material fact on  an essential 

element of the cause of action ,  summary judgment dismissal of the claim for fraud 

was proper. 

IV. Counterclaim for Unjust Enrichment 

Cortes' final cause of action, also pleaded in the alternative to breach of 

contract, alleged that the Deutschers were unjustly enriched by the repairs and 

improvements he made on the property without compensation .  Unjust enrichment 

is an equitable claim. Columbia Cmty. Bank v. Newman Park, LLC, 1 77 Wn.2d 

566, 574, 304 P .3d 472 (201 3). "Unjust enrichment al lows a party to recover the 

value of a benefit it has conferred on another party, absent any contractual 

relationship,  if fairness and justice require it." Samra v. Singh, 1 5  Wn. App. 2d 

823, 837, 479 P.3d 7 1 3  (2020). "To prevail on a claim for unjust enrichment, the 

plaintiff must show that (1 ) the defendant received a benefit, (2) the received 

benefit is at the plaintiff's expense, and (3) the circumstances make it unjust for 

the defendant to retain the benefit without payment." Id. Again ,  in the context of 

summary judgment, Cortes need only make a prima facie showing that there is a 

genuine issue of material fact as to each of these elements. See Crabtree v. 

Jefferson County Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 2, 20 Wn. App. 2d 493, 507, 500 P .3d 203 

- 1 2  -
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(202 1 )  ("A motion for summary j udgment must be den ied if the nonmoving party . 

. . shows specific facts that show a genu i ne issue of mater ial fact . ") .  

Cortes argues that the tria l  cou rt improperly d ism issed th is cla im by looki ng 

at the work he performed for Marij ke as an employee and the withhold ings on h is 

tax retu rn , rather than at the thousands of do l lars of improvements he asserts that 

he made to the property , i nc lud ing those for the 9040 res idence desp ite the fact 

that he never occup ied that home. Th is assert ion is supported by the record ; i n  

ana lyzing  the  evidence offered i n  support of th is cause of action , the court stated , 

With respect to unjust enrichment ,  I look at the record . M r. Corte[s] 
was paid for the work that he d id for Ms .  Deutscher .  At t imes , he 
was paid even when he was not worki ng , and the parties ag reed to 
that. There's no evidence that [Cortes] made the mortgage 
payments on this home. There's no evidence that he paid the 
property taxes on th is home, and there's no evidence that he 
co l lected the rent from the res idence that is on the property . I f  he d id 
have $270 , 000 withheld from h is tax retu rns over those 1 3  years as 
a hous ing al lowance ,  a s ign ificant benefit, that is not evidenced . 

It is clear that the court focused on the evidence h igh l ig hted by the Deutschers to 

the excl us ion of the evidence presented by Cortes that perta i ned to the crux of h is 

cla im : the tang ib le improvements to the property for which he was not 

compensated . Further, the ru l i ng  i nd icates that rather than tak ing a l l  i nferences i n  

favor of  Cortes as  the nonmoving party , t he  court weighed the  evidence presented 

by each s ide .  Th is is a m isapp l ication of the summary j udgment standard . 1 0  See, 

e.g. ,  Haley, 25 Wn . App .  2d at 2 1 7 ("On summary j udgment ,  the tria l  cou rt may not 

1 0  The Deutschers s im i lar ly do not add ress property improvements i n  the ir  arg ument 
regard i ng  u nj ust enrichment. I nstead , they assert that the tr ia l  cou rt properly found that the 
evidence potent ia l ly shows that the labor Cortes cla imed he performed on the property was the 
equ ivalent of a reasonable amount of rent. This arg u ment fai l s  to account  for the expenses Cortes 
said he incu rred for repa i rs and maintenance completed by others or for the replacement of 
app l iances or fixtu res. 
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weigh the evidence, assess credibility, consider the likelihood that the evidence 

will prove true, or otherwise resolve issues of material fact.") ; Am. Exp. Centurion 

Bank v. Stratman, 1 72 Wn. App. 667, 676, 292 P.3d 1 28 (20 1 2) ("The trial court 

does not weigh the evidence or assess witness credibi l ity on a motion for summary 

judgment."); Silves v. King, 93 Wn. App. 873, 880, 970 P.2d 790 (1 999) ("A genuine 

issue of credibi l ity should not be resolved at summary judgment."). 

Again,  as with each of the other causes of action, we review the dismissal 

of this claim de nova and do not weigh the evidence or make credibi l ity 

determinations. Bale v. Allison, 1 73 Wn. App. 435, 458, 294 P .3d 789 (201 3) 

("'The function of the appellate court is to review the action of the trial courts. 

Appel late courts do not hear or weigh evidence, find facts, or substitute their 

opinions for those of the trier-of-fact."' (quoting Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto Plaza, 

Inc., 1 53 Wn. App. 71 0 ,  7 17 ,  225 P .3d 266 (2009)). The evidence Cortes 

presented in support of his counterclaim for unjust enrichment consisted of 

photographs of landscaping improvements on the property , an invoice for a new 

vapor barrier and removal and replacement of insulation in the 9040 residence, 

and an invoice marked "Paid cash" for a pressure check of the well that provided 

water to both residences on the property. He also provided a declaration asserting 

that he performed substantial landscaping work and repairs on the property, 

including replacement of fixtures and appliances. He declared that he had not 

been compensated for this work, so , if there was no enforceable contract to buy 

the property, the improvements would benefit on ly the Deutschers. In  response, 

the Deutschers claimed that they received no benefit at Cortes' expense; he 
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worked for Marij ke and she paid h im for h is labor. 1 1  This d iscrepancy i n  test imony 

is precisely the sort that precl udes summary j udgment because on ly a fact-fi nder 

may weigh cred ib i l ity to reso lve th is type of competi ng evidence .  S im i larly, the 

determ inat ion of the persuasiveness of the i nvo ices and photog raphs that Cortes 

has prod uced is reserved for the fact-fi nder .  Aga i n ,  the bu rden at the summary 

j udgment stage is one of production , not persuas ion . Renz, 1 1 4 Wn . App .  at 623 . 

The tria l  cou rt erred i n  d ism iss ing Cortes' countercla im for unj ust enrichment .  

We affi rm in  part ,  reverse i n  part ,  and remand for fu rther proceed ings .  

WE CONCUR:  

1 1  The Deutschers' response to th is cause of action also i nc luded an  argument that Cortes 
may not cla im unj ust enrich ment because he has " u nclean hands" for pu rported ly not reporti ng to 
the I nterna l  Revenue Service the $270 , 000 he a l leges was with he ld from h is  paycheck. Aside from 
the fact that th is framing rests on a m isappl ication of the unclean hands doctri ne ,  we decl i ne  to 
add ress th is arg ument as Cortes' u nj ust enrichment c la im perta ined on ly  to improvements to the 
property . 
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D IVIS ION ONE  

ORDER DENYI NG MOTION 
FOR RECONS IDERATION 
OR PUBL ICATION 

Appel lant fi led a motion for reconsideration o r ,  i n  t he  alternative , pub l icat ion 

on Ju ly 5 ,  2024 . A panel of the court ca l led for an answer to that motion which 

was fi led by respondents on August 7 ,  2024 . After cons ideration of the motion and 

response ,  the panel has determ ined that the motion shou ld be den ied . 

Now, therefore , it is hereby 

ORDERED that the motion for reconsideration or ,  in the alternative , 

pub l icat ion is den ied . 

FOR TH E COU RT: 
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MAR IJKE DEUTSCHER and ALLEN 
DEUTSCHER ,  husband and wife ,  and 
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Respondents , 

V .  

RAM I RO CORTESt,  a s ing le person ,  
and ALL OTH ER OCCU PANTS OF 
9234 MOU NTAI N VI EW ROAD SE ,  
YELM , WAS H I NGTON ,  

Appel lant ,  

YOU R  LAN DSCAPE COMPANY, LLC , 
a Wash i ngton l im ited l iab i l ity company, 

Th i rd-Party Defendant .  
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D IVIS ION ONE  

U N P U BL ISHED O P I N ION 

HAZELRIGG ,  A. C . J .  - Ram i ro Cortes l ived i n  a res idence jo i ntly owned by 

h is longt ime emp loyer Marij ke Deutscher and her husband as the i r  tenant. I n  May 

202 1 , the Deutschers notified Cortes that they i ntended to se l l  the property and , 

when he refused to vacate , b rought an act ion for ejectment. Cortes answered the 

su it and fi led countercla ims aga inst the Deutschers ,  assert ing an equ itable i nterest 

in the property and al leg i ng ,  among other causes of action ,  b reach of an oral  

contract to pu rchase the property , fraud , and unj ust enrichment .  The tria l  cou rt 

t Though the Deutschers set out the i r  former employee's name as " Romero Cortez" i n  
the ir  plead ings ,  he spel led h is  own name " Rami ro Cortes" i n  a l l  o f  h is  p lead ings fi led i n  t he  tria l  
cou rt and on appea l .  We adopt the spel l i ng  used by the appel lant .  
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g ranted the Deutschers' motion for summary j udgment d ism issal of Cortes' 

countercla ims aga inst them and ordered the writ of ejectment. Because Cortes 

demonstrated a genu ine issue of mater ial fact as to h is countercla im for unj ust 

enrichment ,  the court erred in order ing its d ism issa l .  We reverse and remand on 

the unj ust enrichment cause of action ,  but otherwise affi rm . 

FACTS 

Ram i ro Cortes was a longt ime employee of You r  Landscape Company LLC , 

a bus iness owned by Marij ke Deutscher. 1 On or about October 1 8 , 2008 , Marij ke2 

and her husband , Al len Deutscher, pu rchased the property of 9234 Mounta in  View 

Road SE ,  Yelm ,  Wash ington (the property) for a pu rchase price of $295 , 000 .  The 

property consisted of two res idences : a 2 ,499-square-foot home at 9234 Mounta in  

View Road and a 1 ,  1 76-square-foot home at  9040 Mounta i n  View Road . It was 

insured under a pol icy issued to Al len and Marij ke Deutscher .  Wh i le the parties 

fundamenta l ly d isag ree about the i r  arrangement regard i ng Cortes' access to and 

res idence at the property , they ag ree that Cortes and h is fam i ly moved onto the 

property at some point i n  2008. 3 There was no written lease ag reement between 

1 Although Marij ke d id  not provide specifics as to when Cortes began worki ng for her 
bus iness, there was evidence presented i n  her p lead i ngs and supporti ng documents that she had 
previously stated i n  a text message to Cortes that she was sad h is emp loyment had to end " l i ke 
th is after nearly 20 years . "  Cortes asserts h is  employment with the Deutschers started i n  
approximate ly 2002 . 

2 The compla int  for ejectment and damages was fi led by Marij ke and Al len Deutscher as a 
marital commun ity and references to the l it igat ion are ascribed to "the Deutschers . "  However, i n  
t he  in terest o f  clarity ,  i n  descri ptions of  the  in teract ions between Cortes and Mrs .  Deutscher we wi l l  
use  her fi rst name ,  Marij ke . No d isrespect is i ntended . 

3 Cortes contends that he approached Marij ke aski ng for assistance to buy a home,  he 
moved i nto the property thereafter, and then he and Marij ke entered into an ora l  contract for Cortes 
to buy it from the Deutschers .  I n  h is  answer to the compla int for ejectment, Cortes a l leges that 

- 2 -
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the parties govern ing Cortes' use of the property . 4 At various t imes , Cortes' 

extended fam i ly also l ived on the property in the 9040 res idence and paid rent to 

Marij ke . 5 Desp ite language in the compla int for ejectment where in  the Deutschers 

asserted Cortes "has never paid rent for the [p] remises and never been asked to 

pay rent for the [p] rem ises , "  the parties now ag ree on appeal that, at least for the 

fi rst year of h is tenancy, Cortes was to pay $ 1 ,250 to Marij ke month ly. 6 Cortes 

i n it ia l ly paid Marij ke cash for h is month ly rent. 7 He al leges that Marij ke eventua l ly 

started withhold ing earn ings from h is paycheck i n  order to meet the month ly 

payment ob l igations .  The Deutschers deny that any money was withheld from 

Cortes' checks and aver that ,  i nstead , he s imp ly stopped payi ng rent a ltogether 

when he encountered personal hardsh ips .  

Cortes' emp loyment with You r  Landscape Company was term inated i n  May 

202 1 . Shortly thereafter, the Deutschers decided to se l l  the property and notified 

Cortes that he wou ld need to vacate it .  Cortes refused and , on November 1 5 , the 

Deutschers fi led a compla int for ejectment in Thu rston County Superior Court .  On 

Marij ke " let [h im]  know that she found a potent ia l  home for h im"  after Cortes approached her for 
he lp  but pr ior to the Deutschers purchas ing the property . 

I n  contrast, the Deutschers assert i n  briefi ng that they a l lowed Cortes and h is fam i ly to 
move into the 9234 res idence on the property in order to he lp  h im  and h is  fam i ly .  At the t ime of the 
compla int  for ejectment, Cortes asserted that he ,  h is two ch i l d ren ,  his d isabled brother, and h is  
e lderly mother l ived i n  the 9234 res idence. 

4 Marij ke asserted that the ag reement was "ma in ly ora l ,  because Ram i ro d id not 
u nderstand contracts much or, you know, even if I exp la ined th ings to h im ,  I sometimes had to do 
it two or three t imes before he rea l ly got it . " Cortes' answer to the Deutschers' compla int asserts 
h is  primary language is Span ish and he characterizes h is  Eng l ish- language profic iency as " l im ited . "  

5 Marij ke asserts that he r  realtor, Margo Street, has  commun icated with the 9040 tenants 
th rough her bus iness, Networks Real Estate LLC,  screened some of them ,  and deposited the i r  rent 
checks at Marij ke's d i rection .  

6 Cortes fu rther asserts that another $ 1 , 000 " payment" was cred ited to  h is month ly 
payments by recru it i ng tenants to l ive i n  the 9040 res idence on the property . 

7 Aga in ,  d i rectly contrad icti ng the language i n  the orig ina l  compla int ,  Marij ke adm itted i n  
deposit ion testimony that cash rental payments were made for between e igh t  months and one year. 
Cortes does not provide a time frame for his cash payments for rent. 

- 3 -
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December 29 ,  Cortes responded with h is answers , affi rmative defenses , 

countercla ims aga inst the Deutschers ,  and th i rd-party cla ims aga inst You r  

Landscape Company. 8 H is countercla ims included al legat ions that the Deutschers 

violated an oral  contract for Cortes to pu rchase the property , Marij ke comm itted 

fraud , and the Deutschers were unjustly en riched by Cortes' u ncompensated 

improvements to the property . On February 1 8 , 2022 , the Deutschers moved for 

part ia l summary judgment on the ejectment act ion and Cortes' th ree countercla ims 

aga inst them . Cortes fi led a response on May 20 ,  argu ing that there were mater ial 

issues of fact as to h is th ree countercla ims that necessari ly p revented the i r  

d ism issal and  precl uded an order of ejectment. 

On J une 3, the tria l  cou rt conducted a heari ng on the Deutschers' motion . 

After considering the argument and briefs of the parties , i nc lud ing mu lt ip le 

declarations i n  support of each party's posit ion , the court g ranted the Deutschers' 

motion for part ia l summary j udgment d ism iss ing Cortes' countercla ims and 

ordered a writ of ejectment. On J une 8 ,  Cortes fi led a notice for d iscretionary 

review i n  D iv is ion Two of th is cou rt .  A comm iss ioner den ied review and Cortes 

moved to mod ify that ru l i ng . Cortes' mot ion to mod ify the comm iss ioner's ru l i ng  

was g ranted , as was review of  the case , wh ich was subsequently transferred to 

th is d iv is ion .  

8 The cla ims against You r  Landscape Company are not before th is cou rt, as they su rvived 
the Deutschers' motion for summary judgment and are proceed ing  to tria l .  
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ANALYSIS 

Cortes argues that the summary judgment dismissal of his counterclaims 

was improper because he established that there were genuine issues of material 

fact as to each of his three causes of action and that the court similarly erred as to 

the order for writ of ejectment. 

This court reviews a summary judgment order de nova. Berry v. King 

County, 1 9  Wn. App. 2d 583, 587, 501 P .3d 1 50 (2021 ) .  "A party seeking summary 

judgment bears the initial burden to show the absence of a genuine issue of 

material fact." Hung Dang v. Floyd, Pflueger & Ringer, PS, 24 Wn. App. 2d 1 45, 

1 58,  5 1 8  P.3d 671 (2022), review denied, 200 Wn.2d 1 032 (2023). Summary 

judgment is appropriate "' if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, 

and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no 

genuine issue as to any material fact."' Berry, 1 9  Wn. App. 2d at 587 (quoting CR 

56(c)). All facts and reasonable inferences are viewed in the light most favorable 

to the nonmoving party . Id. "The moving party is held to a strict standard" and any 

doubts regarding the existence of a genuine issue of material fact are resolved 

against the moving party. Atherton Condo. Apt.-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Dirs. v. 

Blume Dev. Co., 1 1 5 Wn.2d 506, 51 6 ,  799 P.2d 250 (1 990). 

If the moving party meets their initial burden, then the burden shifts to the 

non moving party to show the existence of a genuine issue of material fact. Hung 

Dang, 24 Wn. App. 2d at 1 58. The nonmoving party must provide "more than 

conclusory allegations, speculative statements, or argumentative assertions of the 

existence of unresolved factual issues" to survive summary judgment. Walker v. 

- 5 -
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King County Metro, 1 26 Wn. App. 904, 9 12 ,  1 09 P.3d 836 (2005). Absent specific 

circumstances, at the summary judgment stage, the court must only determine 

whether the nonmoving party has met a burden of production, "not whether the 

evidence produced is persuasive ," as that role belongs to the jury. Renz v. 

Spokane Eye Clinic, PS, 1 44 Wn. App. 61 1 ,  623, 60 P.3d 1 06 (2002). Accordingly , 

when ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the "trial court may not weigh the 

evidence, assess credibi l ity, consider the likelihood that the evidence will prove 

true, or otherwise resolve issues of material fact ." Haley v. Amazon.com Servs., 

LLC, 25 Wn. App. 2d 207, 2 17 ,  522 P.3d 80 (2022). Although summary judgment 

exists to avoid pointless trials where no material fact is in dispute, a trial is 

"absolutely necessary where there is a genuine issue as to any material fact ." Id. 

(quoting Ba/ise v. Underwood, 62 Wn.2d 1 95, 1 99,  381 P.2d 966 (1 963)). Finally, 

and separately from the summary judgment framework, we may affirm on any 

basis supported by the record on appeal .  Performance Constr., LLC v. Glenn, 1 95 

Wn. App. 406, 41 5, 380 P.3d 61 8 (201 6) .  

I .  Counterclaim for Breach of Contract 

Cortes alleges that the Deutsche rs breached an oral contract between them 

to purchase the property. To prevail on a breach of contract claim, a plaintiff must 

show that a valid agreement existed between the parties, the agreement was 

breached, and the plaintiff suffered damages. Univ. of Wash. v. Gov't Emp. Ins. 

Co. ,  200 Wn. App. 455, 467, 404 P .3d 559 (201 7). Generally, to survive summary 

judgment, a party must make a prima facie showing of each of these three 

elements. See Boguch v. Landover Corp. , 1 53 Wn. App. 595, 609, 224 P.3d 795 

- 6 -

A-022 



No. 85898-0-1/7 

(2009) (explaining if plaintiff fails to make prima facie showing on element essential 

to case , summary judgment should be granted). However, because Cortes 

expressly requested specific performance of the alleged contract in his 

counterclaim, he must meet a heightened standard of proof, even at the summary 

judgment stage. 

"[W]here specific performance of the agreement is sought, the contract must 

'be prove[d] by evidence that is clear and unequivocal and which leaves no doubt 

as to the terms, character, and existence of the contract."' Berg v. Ting, 1 25 Wn.2d 

544, 556, 886 P .2d 564 (1 995) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Miller v. 

McCamish, 78 Wn.2d 821 , 829, 479 P.2d 91 9). I n  the context of summary 

judgment, this standard requires us to determine "'whether, viewing the evidence 

in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party , a rational trier of fact could find 

that the non moving party supported [their] claim with clear, cogent, and convincing 

evidence."' In re Est. of Kolesar, 27 Wn. App. 2d 1 66, 1 76, 532 P.3d 1 70 (2023) 

(internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Woody v. Stapp, 1 46 Wn. App. 1 6 , 22, 

1 89 P.3d 807 (2008)). 

Our state Supreme Court has provided 1 3  material terms of a real estate 

contract as follows: 

(a) time and manner for transferring title; (b) procedure for 
declaring forfeiture; (c) al location of risk with respect to damage 
or destruction ;  (d) insurance provisions; (e) responsibility for: (i) 
taxes, (ii) repairs, and (ii i) water and utilities; (f) restrictions, if any, 
on: (i) capital improvements, (i i) l iens, (i i i) removal or replacement 

- 7 -
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of personal property , and (iv) types of use; (g) time and place for 
monthly payments; and (h) indemnification provisions. 

Kruse v. Hemp, 1 21 Wn.2d 7 15 ,  853 P.2d 1 373 (1 993). Cortes asserts that he 

had an oral contract with Marijke to purchase the property for $270,000 and that 

he made monthly payments toward the sale amount .  He alleges that he was to 

make monthly payments of $2,250 to Marijke, which were later lowered to $1 ,800 

by agreement, until the purchase price of $270,000 was reached. The monthly 

payment would consist of $1 ,250 in cash and a $1 ,000 "credit" for Cortes' 

assistance in obtaining renters for the 9040 residence. While this evidence 

arguably supports one term of a real estate contract, time and place for monthly 

payments, Cortes does not offer any facts as to the other terms outlined in Kruse. 

Neither does he present facts as to the general terms of a contract, such as timing 

of the payments, payment of taxes, or interest. 

Cortes also submitted declarations from several witnesses who heard 

statements made by Marijke affi rming the alleged contract, including his friend, 

sister, nephew, and two nieces. These declarations include general statements 

from each of the witnesses about what they heard concerning the existence of a 

contract to buy the property , such as Cortes' niece, who explained that Marijke told 

her "eventually the property would be Ramiro's." However, even viewing these 

declarations in the light most favorable to Cortes as the nonmoving party at 

summary judgment, none of these statements introduce any evidence as to the 

essential terms of a real estate contract, much less evidence sufficient to satisfy 

the clear, cogent and convincing standard that applies in the specific procedural 

posture before us. Therefore , Cortes is unable to meet the heightened burden 
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required by his request for specific performance of the purported oral contract to 

purchase the property . Because he fa ils to satisfy this initial burden, we need not 

reach his remaining arguments on this issue.  The trial court d id not err in 

dismissing the counterclaim for breach of contract. 

1 1 .  Writ of Ejectment 

In a related assignment of error, Cortes also challenges the court's order 

for a writ of ejectment. An ejectment is a legal remedy used to evict tenants who 

have not paid rent. Bar K Land Co. v. Webb, 72 Wn. App. 380, 383, 864 P .2d 435 

(1 993). The entirety of Cortes' argument on this issue is premised on his claim of 

equitable title based on the alleged oral contract to purchase the property . In  his 

counterclaims, Cortes expressly sought specific performance of the contract. Had 

he prevailed at the summary judgment stage, the issuance of the order on the writ 

would have been premature. However, as Cortes' breach of contract claim was 

properly dismissed by the trial court, it did not err when it issued the order on writ 

of ejectment. 

I l l .  Counterclaim for Fraud 

As an alternative cause of action ,  Cortes also brought a counterclaim 

against the Deutschers for fraud, alleging that Marijke made a material and fa lse 

misrepresentation to him that he was purchasing the property from her for 

$270,000. To prove fraud in a civil context, the plaintiff must establish each of the 

fo llowing elements: 

(1 ) A representation of an existing fact, (2) its materiality, (3) its 
fa lsity, (4) the speaker's knowledge of its falsity or ignorance of its 
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truth, (5) [their] intent that it should be acted on by the person to 
whom it is made, (6) ignorance of its falsity on the part of the person 
to whom it is made, (7) the latter's reliance on the truth of the 
representation, (8) [their] right to rely upon it, (9) [their] consequent 
damage. 

Kirkham v. Smith, 1 06 Wn. App. 1 77,  1 83,  23 P.3d 1 0  (2001 ) .  If Cortes is unable 

to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact on any of the nine factors of fraud, 

dismissal of this claim was proper. The Deutschers specifically challenge 

elements (1 ) ,  (2), and (9), however, we evaluate each element in our de nova 

review of this summary judgment action and conclude that Cortes did not produce 

a prima facie showing of element (4). 

The trial court acknowledged that Cortes had presented evidence in support 

of his fraud cla im,  but dismissed it nonetheless, ruling that 

[t]he nine elements of fraud have not been prove[d] by clear, cogent 
and convincing evidence. There is some evidence-I' l l  acknowledge 
that there are declarations from other individuals, not just Mr. 
Corte[s], but the standard required has not been met. 

(Emphasis added.) In  briefing, the Deutschers also state that Cortes must 

establish the elements of fraud under the same evidentiary standard as they aver 

applied to the breach of contract counterclaim. Both the trial court and the 

Deutschers are mistaken .  The heightened standard applied only to the breach of 

contract claim and only because he expressly sought specific performance of the 

purported contract. See Berg, 1 25 Wn.2d at 556; Kolesar, 27 Wn. App. 2d at 1 76.  

H is prayer for relief specifically l imits that remedy to that one cause of action: 

"Cortes respectfully request[s] the fo llowing relief: . . .  [a]n order requiring specific 

performance of the contract entered into for the sale of the [p]roperty ; . . .  [i]n the 

alternative, an award of damages in [an] amount to be prove[d] at tria l ." (Emphasis 
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added .) Cortes did not, and more critica lly could not, seek specific performance in 

either a claim for fraud or unjust enrichment. In  the procedural posture of this case, 

Cortes need only make a prima facie showing that there is a genuine issue of 

material fact for each element of his fraud claim to survive summary judgment. 

Hung Dang, 24 Wn. App. at 1 58. 

For this cause of action ,  Cortes relied on his own declaration, as well as 

those of his friends and fami ly that he offered to support his assertion of the 

existence of an oral contract. Despite the Deutschers' focus in briefing on their 

erroneous argument about the evidentiary standard, the evidence Cortes 

produced was sufficient to raise a genuine issue of material fact as to whether 

Marijke made the requisite representation to h im.  The evidence was also sufficient 

to establish a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the purported 

representation was material ,  as Cortes' witnesses stated that he made 

improvements to the property and that monthly payments were made to Marijke 

toward the purchase of the property based on that representation .  Cortes 

produced an invoice marked "Paid cash ," photographs, and testimony that he 

made uncompensated improvements to the property , which also establish a 

genuine issue of material fact that he incurred damages. Therefore , the only three 

elements of this cause of action that the Deutschers contest have been met for 

purposes of summary judgment. 

Nevertheless, as we engage in de nova review of orders on summary 

judgment, we conclude that Cortes is unable to demonstrate a genuine issue of 

material fact regarding the fourth element of a fraud cla im:  the speaker's 
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knowledge of the falsity of their representation. Taking Cortes' evidence and 

associated inferences in the light most favorable to h im,  there is nothing to 

demonstrate that Marijke made a promise to him about the purchase of the 

property that she knew to be false. Although Cortes and his witnesses all claim 

awareness of the existence of the agreement, none asserted that Marijke acted 

with knowledge of the fa lsity of her representation. Again ,  we may affirm on any 

basis supported by the record. See Performance Constr. , 1 95 Wn. App. at 415 .  

Because Cortes cannot show a genuine issue of  material fact on  an essential 

element of the cause of action ,  summary judgment dismissal of the claim for fraud 

was proper. 

IV. Counterclaim for Unjust Enrichment 

Cortes' final cause of action, also pleaded in the alternative to breach of 

contract, alleged that the Deutschers were unjustly enriched by the repairs and 

improvements he made on the property without compensation .  Unjust enrichment 

is an equitable claim. Columbia Cmty. Bank v. Newman Park, LLC, 1 77 Wn.2d 

566, 574, 304 P .3d 472 (201 3). "Unjust enrichment al lows a party to recover the 

value of a benefit it has conferred on another party, absent any contractual 

relationship,  if fairness and justice require it." Samra v. Singh, 1 5  Wn. App. 2d 

823, 837, 479 P.3d 7 1 3  (2020). "To prevail on a claim for unjust enrichment, the 

plaintiff must show that (1 ) the defendant received a benefit, (2) the received 

benefit is at the plaintiff's expense, and (3) the circumstances make it unjust for 

the defendant to retain the benefit without payment." Id. Again ,  in the context of 

summary judgment, Cortes need only make a prima facie showing that there is a 
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genu i ne issue of material fact as to each of these elements . See Crabtree v. 

Jefferson County Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 2, 20 Wn . App .  2d 493 , 507 , 500 P . 3d 203 

(202 1 )  ("A motion for summary j udgment must be den ied i f  the nonmoving party . 

. . shows specific facts that show a genu i ne issue of mater ial fact . ") .  

Cortes argues that the tria l  cou rt improperly d ism issed th is cla im by looki ng 

at the work he performed for Marij ke as an employee and the withhold ings on h is 

tax retu rn , rather than at the thousands of do l lars of improvements he asserts that 

he made to the property , i nc lud ing those for the 9040 res idence desp ite the fact 

that he never occup ied that home. Th is assert ion is supported by the record ; i n  

ana lyzing  the  evidence offered i n  support of th is cause of action , the court stated , 

With respect to unjust enrichment ,  I look at the record . M r. Corte[s] 
was paid for the work that he d id for Ms .  Deutscher .  At t imes , he 
was paid even when he was not worki ng , and the parties ag reed to 
that. There's no evidence that [Cortes] made the mortgage 
payments on this home. There's no evidence that he paid the 
property taxes on th is home, and there's no evidence that he 
co l lected the rent from the res idence that is on the property . I f  he d id 
have $270 , 000 withheld from h is tax retu rns over those 1 3  years as 
a hous ing al lowance ,  a s ign ificant benefit, that is not evidenced . 

It is clear that the court focused on the evidence h igh l ig hted by the Deutschers to 

the excl us ion of the evidence presented by Cortes that perta i ned to the crux of h is 

cla im : the tang ib le improvements to the property for which he was not 

compensated . Further, the ru l i ng  i nd icates that rather than tak ing a l l  i nferences i n  

favor of  Cortes as  the nonmoving party , t he  court weighed the  evidence presented 

by each s ide .  Th is is a m isapp l ication of the summary j udgment standard .  9 See, 

9 The Deutschers s im i lar ly do not add ress property improvements in the ir  argument 
regard i ng  u nj ust enrichment. I nstead , they assert that the tr ia l  cou rt properly found that the 
evidence potent ia l ly shows that the labor Cortes cla imed he performed on the property was the 
equ ivalent of a reasonable amount of rent. This arg u ment fa i l s  to account for the expenses Cortes 
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e.g. ,  Haley, 25 Wn . App .  2d at 2 1 7 ("On summary j udgment ,  the tria l  cou rt may not 

weigh  the evidence ,  assess cred ib i l ity , consider the l i ke l i hood that the evidence 

wi l l  p rove true ,  or  otherwise reso lve issues of mater ial fact . ") ;  Am. Exp. Centurion 

Bank v. Stratman, 1 72 Wn . App .  667 , 676 , 292 P . 3d 1 28 (20 1 2) ("The tria l  cou rt 

does not weigh the evidence or assess witness cred ib i l ity on a motion for summary 

j udgment . ") ; Silves v. King, 93 Wn . App .  873 , 880 , 970 P .2d 790 ( 1 999) ("A genu i ne 

issue of cred ib i l ity shou ld not be reso lved at summary j udgment . ") . 

Aga i n ,  as with each of the other causes of action ,  we review the d ism issal 

of this claim de nova and do not weigh the evidence or make cred ib i l ity 

determ inations .  Bale v. Allison, 1 73 Wn . App .  435 , 458 , 294 P . 3d 789 (20 1 3) 

('"The function of the appel late court is to review the act ion of the tria l  cou rts . 

Appel late cou rts do not hear or  weigh evidence ,  fi nd facts , or  substitute the i r  

op in ions for those of the trier-of-fact ."'  (quoti ng Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto Plaza, 

Inc. , 1 53 Wn . App .  7 1 0 ,  7 1 7 ,  225 P . 3d 266 (2009)) . The evidence Cortes 

presented in support of h is countercla im for unj ust enrichment consisted of 

photog raphs of landscap ing improvements on the property , an i nvo ice for a new 

vapor barr ier and removal and rep lacement of insu lat ion i n  the 9040 res idence ,  

and an i nvo ice marked "Paid cash" for a pressu re check of  the wel l  that provided 

water to both res idences on the property . He also provided a declaration assert ing 

that he performed substantia l  landscap ing work and repairs on the property , 

i nc lud ing rep lacement of fixtu res and app l iances . He declared that he had not 

been compensated for th is work, so ,  if there was no enforceable contract to buy 

sa id  he incu rred for repa i rs and maintenance completed by others or for the replacement of 
app l iances or fixtu res. 
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the property , the improvements wou ld benefit on ly the Deutschers .  I n  response ,  

t he  Deutschers claimed that they rece ived no benefit at Cortes' expense ; he  

worked for Marij ke and  she  paid h im for h is labor. 1 0  Th is  d iscrepancy i n  test imony 

is precisely the sort that precl udes summary j udgment because on ly a fact-fi nder 

may weigh cred ib i l ity to reso lve th is type of competi ng evidence .  S im i larly, the 

determ inat ion of the persuasiveness of the i nvo ices and photog raphs that Cortes 

has prod uced is reserved for the fact-fi nder .  Aga i n ,  the bu rden at the summary 

j udgment stage is one of production , not persuas ion . Renz, 1 1 4 Wn . App .  at 623 . 

The tria l  cou rt erred i n  d ism iss ing Cortes' countercla im for unj ust enrichment .  

We affi rm in  part ,  reverse i n  part ,  and remand for fu rther proceed ings .  

WE CONCUR:  

1 0  The Deutschers' response to th is cause of action also i nc luded an  argument that Cortes 
may not cla im unj ust enrich ment because he has " u nclean hands" for pu rported ly not reporti ng to 
the I nterna l  Revenue Service the $270 , 000 he a l leges was with he ld from h is  paycheck. Aside from 
the fact that th is framing rests on a m isappl ication of the unclean hands doctri ne ,  we decl i ne  to 
add ress th is arg ument as Cortes' u nj ust enrichment c la im perta ined on ly  to improvements to the 
property . 
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